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neek while she sat in a chair. Further-
more, the record is replete with evidence
that the appellant and victim had a turbu-
lent relationship with frequent physical al-
tercations, and that the victim feared for
her life at defendant’'s hands.

This evidence certainly was sufficient to
show malice and premeditation. Thus, we
find no error was committed by the trial
court in its refusal to give defendant’s in-
structions numbered 2 and 3.1

V.

[14] The last assignment of error is
that the trial court permitted the state to
change one of its peremptory challenges
after the defense had already made its
peremptory challenges.!"” The appellant as-
serts that the trial judge should have cor-
rected the problem either by requiring the
state to stick to its original strike or by
declaring a mistrial. Instead, the appellant
argues that the trial court allowed the
state to make the change in its strikes with
full knowledge of the defendant’s six
strikes. The state contends that the
change was made to correct a mistake the
prosecutor made on one strike and in no
way affected the strikes of the defendant.
The state suggested that the court permit
the defendant to re-do their strikes in light
of the state’s charges. Furthermore, the
state claims that the appellant neither
claimed nor demonstrated prejudice in any
resulting process. See Stete v. Bongalis,
— W.Va. ——, ——, 378 S5.E.2d 449, 4566
(1989).

After hearing arguments of both sides,
the court first properly concluded that the
rule in a felony criminal case requires the
state to make its two peremptory chal-

16. Defendant’s instruction number 2 states that
“[t]he Court instructs the jury that under the
law and evidence in this case your verdict with
regards to the first degree murder charge must
be NOT GUIL

Likewise, defendant’s instruction number 3
states that “[tlhe Court instructs the jury that
under the law and evidence in this case your
“verdict with regards to the first degree murder
charge and second degree murder charge must
be NOT GUIL

17. What actually occurred was after the state
had taken its two strikes and the defendant had
taken his six, the state then took a strike for the

401 SOUTH EASTERN REPORTER, 2d SERIES

lenges first and the defendant to do so.
zecond, thus providing the defendant: the
right to make its strikes will full knowl-

edge of the strikes chosen by the state. -
See W.Va.R.Crim.P, 24,

Secondly, the court determined that a
proper course of action was to re-do the
striking process,”® with the state guaran-
teeing it would not now further alter its
decision regarding who to strike. This was
a correct course of action both because the
defendant was not deprived of his right to ~
strike last with full knowledge of the
state’s strikes, and because there was no
showing of prejudice to the defendant.

Based upon the foregoing reasons, this
case is remanded for further development
in accordance with this opinion.

Affirmed in part and remanded for fur-
ther proceedings.
W
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ed against attorney. The Supreme Court

alternate and changed one of the fu‘st two
strikes originally made.

18. Specifically the trial court ruled as foilo_ws:

I agree to the point that she [the pros'ecuior}
wouldn't be allowed to strike after you've [the
appellant] taken your strikes. I agree with
that, but I don't think it's prejudicial fo redo
the list. to let her strike and let you strike
again. If you want to strike the same ones,
all right. If you want to strike different ones,
in view of who she strikes, you have the
privilege to do so. I don't see it to be preju
dicial to do a new strike.
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of Appeals, Workman, J,, held that: (1)
attorney convicted of conspiracy to ob-
gtruct justice is not entitled. to mitigation
hearing, and (2) conduet warrants annul-
ment of license to practice law.

Ordered accordingly.

1. Attorney and Client ¢=53(2)

“Where there is a final criminal convie-
tion, proof on the record of that conviction
satisfies the Committee on Legal Ethics'
burden of proving ethical violation arising
from the convietion.

2. Attorney and Client &=58
Constitutional Law =287.2(5)

License to practice law is a valuable
right and its withdrawal must be accompa-
nied by appropriate due process proce-
dures; where annulment of attorney’s li-
cense is based on felony conviction, attor-
ney must be given the right to request an
evidentiary hearing to introduce mitigating
factors which may bear on disciplinary pun-
ishment to be imposed, but not to attack
the conviction collaterally. U.S.C.A. Const.
Amend. 14.

3. Attorney and Client €58

There is no absolute right to mitigation
hearing in every disciplinary proceeding
based on attorney’s felony conviction.
4. Attorney and Client &=58

Purpose of mitigation hearing is to

provide Supreme Court of Appeals with

opportunity to obtain evidence in addition
to that already contained in the record and
to review facts which might mitigate in
favor of the attorney; mitigation hearing is
appropriate where the court perceives cir-
cumstances surrounding the case, in. the
context of unethical conduet, which might
be sufficient to mitigate the disciplinary
sanction.

5. Attorney dand Client =58

Cases in which mitigation hearing will
be appropriate are the exception rather
than the rule and whether mitigation hear-
ing is appropriate will depend upon the
nature of the attorney’s misconduct, sur-
rounding facts and circumstances, previous

ethical violations, willfulness of the con-

duct, and adequacy of the attorney’s previ-
ous opportunity to present evidence suffi-
cient for determination of appropriate sanc-
tions.

6. Attorney and Client ¢=54, 58

Committee on Legal Ethics is charged
with duty of holding hearings expeditious-
ly, and mitigation hearing cannot be per-
mitted to unreasonably delay the proceed-
ings or unnecessarily postpone the culmina-
tion of the proceedings.

7. Attorney and Client =58

Attorney convicted of conspiraey to ob-
struct justice by intimidation, physical
force, and threats is not entitled to mitiga-
tion hearing in disciplinary proceeding as
no facts which might militate in favor of
attorney could do so sufficiently to miti-
gate the sanetion of annulment, 18 U.S.
C.A. §§ 871, 1512; Rules of Prof.Conduect,
Rule 8.4(b-d).

8. Attorney and Client &=58

Conviction for conspiracy to obstruct
justice warrants annuiment of license to
practice law, 18 US.C.A. §§ 371, 1512
Rules of Prof.Conduct, Rule 8.4(b-d).

. Syllabus by the Court

1. “‘Where there has been a final
criminal convietion, proof on the record of
such conviction satisfies the Committee on
Legal Ethics’ burden of proving an ethical
violation arising from such convietion.'
Syllabus Point 2, Committee on Legal Eth-
ics v Six, — W.Va, —, 380 S5.E.2d 219
(1989)," Syl Pt. 1, Committee on Legal
Ethics v. Boettner, Jr., —— W.Va, —, 394
S.E.2d 735 (1990).

2, “A license to practice law is a valu-
able right, such that its withdrawal must
be accompanied by appropriate due process
procedures. Where annulment of an attor-
ney’s license is sought based on a felony
conviction under Article VI, Section 23 of
the Constitution, By-laws, and Rules and
Regulations of the West Virginia State
Bar, due process requires the attorney be
given the right to request an evidentiary
hearing. The purpose of such a hearing is
not to attack the conviction collaterally, but
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to introduce mitigating factors which may
bear on the disciplinary punishment to be
imposed.” Syl Pt. 2, Commiltee on Legal
Ethies v. Boettner, Jr., — W.Va, ——, 394
S.E.2d 735 (1990).

3. The cases in which a mitigation
hearing will be appropriate are the excep-
tion rather than the rule. Whether a miti-
gation hearing is appropriate in a particu-
lar instance will depend upon a variety of
factors, including but not limited to, the
nature of the attorney’s misconduct, sur-
rounding facts and circumstances, previous
ethical violations, the wilfulness of the con-
duct, and the adequacy of the attorney’s
previous opportunity to present evidence
sufficient for a determination of appropri-
ate sanctions.

Cynthia Santoro Gustke, Sherri D. Good-
man, The West Virginia State Bar, Charles-
ton, for Committee on Legal Ethics of The
WV State Bar.

John Lewis Marks, Jr., Clarksburg, for
John 8. Folio.

WORKMAN, Justice:

In this disciplinary proceeding, the Com-
mittee on Legal Ethics of the West Virginia
State Bar {“the Committee”) recommends
that we annul the license to practice law of
John 8. Folio. Mr. Folio was convicted in
the United States District Court for the
Northern District of West Virginia of con-
spiracy to obstruct justice. The Committee

1. Rule 8.4(b) to (d) of the West Virginia Rules of
Professional Conduct provide as foilows:

It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to:
(b) commit a criminal act that reflects ad-
versely on the lawyer's honesty, trustworthi-
ness or fitness as a lawyer in other respects;
(c) engage in conduct involving dishonest(y],
fraud, deceit or misrepresentation;

(d) engage in conduct that is prejudicial to
the administration of justice[.]

2. The actions of the rvespondent allegedly in-
volved attempts to interfere with the testimony
of individuals appearing before a grand jury
during its probe of Carl Lee Gallo. Mr. Gallo,
of Clarksburg, West Virginia, was being investi-
gated due to his alleged involvement in criminal
cocaine offenses.
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maintains that the respondent is guilty of
professicnal miseonduct and has violated
Rule 84(b) to (d} of the West Virginia
Rules of Professional Conduct.! The re-
gpondent contends that the facts surround-
ing his conviction do not warrant annul-
ment of his license to practice law and
further contends that he is entitled to an
evidentiary hearing in which mitigating
factors may be developed. We disagree
with the respondent and hereby order the
annulment of the respondent’s license to
practice law in the State of West Virginia.-

The respondent has engaged in the prac-
tice of law in Clarksburg, West Virginia,
since his admission to practice law on June
1, 1971, He was indicted on January 31,
1984, in the United States District Court
for the Northern District of West Virginia
and charged with five counts of criminal
conduct.? During a trial conducted from
June 4 through 12, 1984, a judgment of
acquittal was entered on one count of ob-
struetion of justice by the district court at
the close of the government's case. The
jury subsequently found the respondent
not guilty of three obstruction of justice
counts. The jury did, however, find the
respondent guilty of one felony count of
conspiracy to obstruct justice (“conspiracy
to violate 18 U.S.C. § 1512 (1985) by using
intimidation, physical force, and threats
and by engaging in misleading conduct
with intent to influence and attempt to
influence testimony in an official proceed-
ing, in violation of 18 U.B.C. § 371
(1966)").7

3. The pertinent portions of 18 U.S.C. § 1512, as
they appeared during the relevant time period,
provided as follows:

Whoever knowingly uses intimidation or
physical force, or threatens another person,
or attempts to do so, or engages in misleading
conduct toward another person, with intent
to0—(1) influence the testimony of any person
in an official proceeding; ... shall be fined
not more than 3250,000 or .imprisoned. not
more than ten years, or both.
The conspiracy charge is based upon- 18 U.S.C.
§ 371 which provides as follows:

If two or more persons conspire either to
commit any offense against the United States,
or to defraud the United States, or any agency
thereof in any manner or for any purpose,
and one or more of such persons do any act
to effect the object of the conspiracy, each
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On October 23, 1984, the Honorable Rob-
ert Maxwell of the United. States. District
Court for the Northern District of West
Virginia granted the respondent’s Motion
for Judgment of Acquittal on the conspir-
acy to obstruct justice charge, reasoning
that insufficient evidence had been present-
ed to sustain a guilty verdict. Upon ap-
peal, the United States Court of Appeals
for the Fourth Circuit reinstated the guilty
verdict, by order dated July 11, 1285, See
U.S. ». Folio, 767 F.2d 914 (4th Cir.1985)
(unpublished opinion). After evidentiary
hearings which revealed that exculpatory
evidence known to the government had not
been disclosed, the district court granted
the respondent’s motion for a new trial
Again, the government appealed to the
Fourth Circuit, and the Fourth Circuit re-
versed the distriet court’s award of a new
trial. See U.S. v. Folio, 851 F.2d 357 {(4th
Cir.1988) (unpublished opinion). The re-
spondent’s application for a writ of certio-
rari from the judgment of the Fourth Cir-
cuit to the United States Supreme Court
was denied by order dated November T,

1988,

On May 29, 1990, the respondent was
sentenced by Judge Maxwell to a term of
probation for a period of two years, was
fined $1,000.00, and was ordered to per-
form 100 hours of community service.
Judge Maxwell also entered an order sus-
pending the respondent’s license to practice
law for a period of ten days.

The Committee on Legal Ethics has insti-
tuted this disciplinary proceeding and con-
tends that the respondent’s license to prae-
tice law ghould be annulled based upon his
conviction and his.viclation of Rule 8.4(b) to
(d) of the West Virginia Rules of Profes-
gional Conduet. -~ - _

(1,2] - “‘Where there has been a fina
eriminal conviction, proof on the record of
such convietion satisfiés the Committee on
Legal Ethics’ burden’of’ proving’ an ethical
violation arising from such .conviction.’
Syllabus Point 2, Committee on Legal Eth-

 shall be fined not more than Sl(.‘E,OOO or im-
prisoned not more than five years,.or both.

If, however, the offense, the commissign of
which is the object of the conspiracy,.is a
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ies v. Sz, — W.Va. —, 380 S.E.2d 219

(1989).” Syl. Pt. 1, Committee on Legal

Ethics v. Boettner, Jr., — W.Va, —, 394

S.12.2d 736 (1990). However, as we recog-

nized in Syllabus Point 2 of Boetiner,
[a] license to practice law is a valuable
right, such that its withdrawal must be
accompanied by appropriate due process
procedures, Where annulment of an at-
torney’s license is sought based on a
felony conviction under Article VI, Sec-
tion 23 of the Constitution, By-laws, and
Rules and Regulations of the West Virgi-
nia State Bar, due process requires the
attorney be given the right to request an
evidentiary hearing. The purpose of
such a hearing is not to attack the con-
viction collaterally, but to introduce miti-
gating factors which may bear on the
disciplinary punishment to be imposed.
{emphasis added)

In the present case, the respondent filed
a "“Petition for Evidentiary Hearing in Miti-
gation of Disciplinary Action” with this
Court on June 19, 1990, In his petition, the
respondent requests an evidentiary hearing
in order to introduce mitigating factors and
circumstances which may bear on the disei-
plinary punishment to be imposed, includ-
ing transeripts, exhibits, and testimony of-
fered at his sentencing.

[3] Although the Boetiner case estab-
lished the procedure for obtaining a mitiga-
tion hearing, no absolute right to a mitiga-
tion hearing in every disciplinary proceed-
ing was created. A determination regard-
ing the entitlement to an evidentiary hear-
ing will be made by this Court on a case-by-
case basis.

In Boettner, we granted the request for
an evidentiary mitigation hearing because
we believed that “a further hearing with a
developed record [would] be beneficial in
determining the appropriate disciplinary
punishment.” 394 5.E.2d at 739. " In that
case, Mr. Boettner had pled guilty to viola-
tion of 26 U.S.C. § 7201, making it a felony
to wilfully evade the payment of federal

misdemeanor only, the punishment for such
conspiracy shall not exceed the maximum
punishment provided for such misdemeanor.

e
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‘taxes. Mr. Boettner, a member of the

West Virginia Senate and its majority lead-
er during the time period in question, ob-
tained a bank loan through the assistance
of a lobbyist. The lobbyist and ancther
individual made several interest payments
on Mr. Boettner's loan directly to the bank,
Mr. Boettner’s failure to report these pay-
ments, qualifying as constructive income
under the Internal Revenue Code, consti-
tuted income tax evasion. The unreported
income would have increased his income
tax liability from $8,456.00 to $10,033.00.

In Mr. Boettner's request for a mitiga-
tion hearing, he asserted that his financial
gituation and his extensive campaign debts
required him to attempt to refinance his
loans. Mr. Boettner based his request for
a mitigation hearing, in substantial part,
upon the need to present evidence regard-
ing his financial distress and to explain the
circumstances under which he attempted to
refinance hig loan. Mr. Bosettner also re-
quested a hearing in order to present evi-
dence regarding the small amount of tax-
able income not reported, the negligent
rather than wilfull nature of his actions,
and his invoivement in public service work.
Based upon guch considerations, we grant-
ed Mr, Boettner a mitigation hearing in
order to develop facts relating to these
issues.

We also recently granted a motion for a
mitigation hearing in Committee on Legal
FEthics v. Leaberry, No. 19800 (W.Va.
Sup.Ct. of Appeals, November 1, 1990). In
that case, the respondent, having pled

"guilty to federal charges involving failure

to disclose all sources of income, had not
yet been sentenced. He contended that
facts relevant to mitigation would be dis-
closed in his presentence report at sentenc-
ing. Such disclosure, Leaberry maintained,
would petentially present information serv-
ing as mitigation of the charges against
him and would be beneficial to the determi-

4. As we stated in Boetiner, “pending the out-
come of the mitigation hearing, we retain the
right to suspend temporarily the license of an
attorney who has been convicted of a felony.”
394 S.E.2d at 739. In Leaberry, the Committee
on Legal Ethics made a motion to suspend Mr.
Leaberry's license to practice law pending the
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nation of an appropriate disciplinary sane-
tion to be imposed. We agreed and grant-
ed the evidentiary mitigation hearing.!

[4] This court must make a final deter-
mination of the appropriate sanction in dis-
ciplinary proceedings instituted against at-
torneys in the state. The purpose of a
mitigation hearing, in appropriate cases, is
to provide this Court with the opportunity
to obtain evidence in addition to that al-
ready contained in the record and to review
facts which might mitigate in favor of an
attorney. Thus, a mitigation hearing -
would be appropriate where this Court per-
ceives circumstances surrounding the case,
in the context of the unethical conduct,
which might be sufficient to mitigate the
disciplinary sanction. When this Court
grants a mitigation hearing, however, there
is certainly no guarantee of a mitigated
sanction. It simply provides the attorney
with the opportunity to present evidence
which could potentially be considered as
mitigatory.

[51 The ecases in which a mitigation
hearing will be appropriate are the excep-
tion rather than the rule, Whether a miti-
gation hearing is appropriate in a particu-
lar instance will depend upon a variety of
factors, including but not limited to, the
nature of the attorney’s misconduet, sur-
rounding facts and eircumstances, previous
ethical violations, the wilfulness of the con-
duct, and the adequacy of the attorney’s
previous opportunity to present evidence
sufficient for a determination of appropri-
ate sanctions.

f6] Furthermore, the Committee on Le-
gal Kthics is charged with the duty of
holding such hearings expeditiously. A
mitigation hearing cannot be permitted to
unreasonably delay these proceedings or to
unnecessarily postpone the culmination of

mitigation hearing. We denied that motion by
order dated December 13, 1990, due io Mr.
Leaberry's express agreement to refrain from
practicing law pending the outcome of the hear-
ing. ? motion to temporarily suspend the li-
cense fo practice law was not made, however, in
Boettner.
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such proceedings.5

[7] In the present case, we have re-
viewed the respondent’s explanation of his
actions and his defense as presented during
the respondent’s testimony at trial. We
have also reviewed all other relevant testi-
mony transeripts, orders, and motions as
submitted to.us by the respondent. The
respondent has been convicted of one felo-
ny count of conspiracy to violate 18 U.S.C.
§ 1512 by using intimidation, physical
force, and threats and by engaging in mis-
leading conduct with intent to influence
and attempt to influence testimony in an
official proceeding, in violation of 18 U.8.C.
§ 371, This is a final conviction. The re-
spondent’s conduet not only constitutes a
flagrant violation of Rule 8.4(b) to {d) of
the Rules of Professional Conduet, but it
also strikes at the very essence of the
integrity of the legal system. No faets
which might militate in favor of the respon-
dent could do so sufficiently to mitigate the

berry pending his mitigation hearing, for in-
stance, it is of concern that the Commission
projected that a2 mitigation hearing would delay
the proceedings against attorneys by approxi-

$ In the Committee's motion to disbar Mr. Lea-

sanction of annulment. Thus, under these
facts and circumstances, we fail to discern
any purpose for such a hearing. The
record in its present form provides an ade-
quate basis upon which a final determina-
tion regarding disciplinary sanction can be

"made. We consequently deny the respon-

dent’s request for an evidentiary mitigation
hearing.

[8] Accordingly, we aceept the recom-
mendation of the Committee on Legal Eth-
ics and order the annulment of the respon-
dent’s license to practice law in the State of
West Virginia.

It is so ordered.

w
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mately three months. Ethical violations com-
mitted by atlorneys are a matter of great public
concern. Proceedings instituted to sanction at-
torneys for violation should consequently be
concluded with great dispatch.

.



